I. INTRODUCTION 

This lawsuit arises out of flooding in a residential neighborhood of 

Bothell called Crystal Ridge, Divisions I & II. Unfortunately for the 

homeowners in Crystal Ridge, the subdivision was built on and adjacent to 

underground springs and seeps that have historically made the property 

extremely wet. The subdivision was approved by Snohomish County well 

before the area was incorporated by the City. The County's approval 

documents - including hydrology, geology, hydrogeology reports, and 

drainage plans - indicate the property's propensity to flood. 

The County's approval documents also clearly show that the 

County intended it to be the responsibility of the private homeowners in 

Crystal Ridge to comply with any specialized drainage features that might 

be required to control flooding on their own individual lots. In fact, it is 

undisputed that in 1987 the County required the developer to record a 

document entitled "Drainage Disclosure" with the County Assessor's 

Office, giving notice to all future homeowners of flooding problems with 

the property and, in addition, advising future homeowners that complying 

with measures to control such flooding would be their responsibility 

should they choose to purchase in Crystal Ridge. 

The main drainage feature installed by the developer in Crystal 

Ridge to prevent the residential homes from flooding was a perforated 



pipe buried in a trench 12 feet underground, known as the "interceptor 

pipe." This buried pipe is intended to collect and remove groundwater 

from the site. Apparently this pipe is in disrepair and, according to 

Plaintiffs, is causing flooding on some of their residential real properties. 

Both parties moved for summary judgment below. Plaintiffs asked 

the trial court to enter an order finding that the City of Bothell has a duty 

to maintain the buried interceptor pipe. The City asked the trial court to 

find that it had no such duty as a matter of law, and to dismiss Plaintiffs' 

lawsuit in its entirety. The City's motion was based upon the undisputed 

fact that the interceptor pipe is a private (not public) drainage feature. 

Pursuant to all of the applicable drainage codes, rules, and regulations, the 

interceptor pipe does not meet the definition of a public "stormwater 

facility." Furthermore, it is undisputed that the City has never in the past 

maintained this private structure (nor did the County when the property 

was under Snohomish County's jurisdiction); nor would it be in the 

public's best interest to do so as the interceptor pipe only benefits private 

property. 

In light of these undisputed facts- especially the recorded Drainage 

Disclosure providing notice to all homeowners in Crystal Ridge that they 

would be responsible to control flooding on their own properties -

Plaintiffs' attempt to hold the City legally accountable for Crystal Ridge's 
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drainage issues should be denied. Regrettably, the trial court inexplicably 

granted the Plaintiffs' motion and entered an order finding that the City 

has a duty to repair Plaintiffs' private drainage system. Accordingly, the 

City filed this request for discretionary review to ask that the trial court 

order granting Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment be reversed, and 

that the City's cross-motion for summary judgment to dismiss this lawsuit 

be granted. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The trial court erred by granting the Plaintiffs' Motion for 

Summary Judgment, and by failing to grant the City'S Cross-Motion for 

Summary Judgment to dismiss this case in its entirety, upon one or more 

of the following bases: 

(1) The City does not have a duty to maintain the interceptor 

pipe because it is a private drainage facility and not a public facility; 

(2) The City does not have a duty to maintain the interceptor 

pIpe as the pipe was not included in the drainage easement for 

"stormwater facilities" that was expressly dedicated to Snohomish County 

when the plat of Crystal Ridge was recorded, because the interceptor pipe 

does not meet the statutory definition of a "stormwater facility" as a matter 

of law; 
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(3) The City does not have a duty to maintain the interceptor 

pipe as the pipe has not been dedicated to the City via any theory of 

common law dedication, because neither the County nor the City has 

never taken any action to accept responsibility to inspect and/or maintain 

the interceptor pipe, and because the pipe benefits only private parties; 

(4) The City does not have a duty to maintain the interceptor 

pipe because the property owners in Crystal Ridge bought their properties 

subject to the Drainage Disclosure recorded on the properties, which gave 

them notice that "substantial surface and subsurface drainage controls 

have been necessary in the development of the subject property, and that 

special and/or extraordinary drainage controls may be necessary on 

individual lots" and that "the disclosures and terms and conditions runs 

[sic] with the land . . . and the compliance and/or knowledge are the 

obligation of any owner of the subject property." 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Introduction 

The main issue in this lawsuit can be simply stated: Does the City 

of Bothell have a duty to maintain the private drainage facility known as 

the "interceptor pipe" that is located within the residential development of 

Crystal Ridge? Plaintiffs' sole argument as to why the City has such a 

duty is based upon their contention that the developer of Crystal Ridge 
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dedicated drainage easements for "stormwater facilities" to Snohomish 

County on the face of the plats when the subdivisions were approved, that 

the County accepted those easements pursuant to RCW Ch. 58, that the 

City of Bothell subsequently incorporated the area which included the 

Crystal Ridge subdivision and took over all storm water maintenance 

duties that the County had upon incorporation, and, therefore, the City 

must now have a duty to maintain the interceptor pipe. This argument is a 

red herring. This argument misses the point entirely, as the pipe at issue 

here - the interceptor pipe - is simply not covered by the dedicated 

easement because it is a private drainage facility. The County never had a 

duty to maintain Crystal Ridge's private interceptor pipe upon dedication 

of the plats for Divisions I & II; and, likewise, the City never had a duty to 

maintain this private drainage facility upon incorporation. 

When the Court looks at the plain language of the easement, it will 

see that it clearly and specifically covers only "stormwater facilities." 

And here, the City presented undisputed evidence to the trial court below 

to show that the interceptor pipe was not, and is not, a "stormwater 

facility" as defined by either the applicable Snohomish County codes or 

City of Bothell codes. Thus, the interceptor pipe was not included in the 

"facilities" covered by the dedicated easements. Furthermore, the City 

also presented undisputed evidence below that neither the County nor the 
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City has ever maintained this pipe. Based upon this evidence, the City has 

no duty to maintain and repair the interceptor pipe. Accordingly, the City 

respectfully asks this Court to reverse the trial court's order denying the 

City's motion to dismiss. 

B. The Development Of Crystal Ridge 

1. The County Required Installation of the Interceptor 
Pipe and a Surface Water Swale Drain as Conditions of 
Approval of the Crystal Ridge Plat. 

This lawsuit arises out of flooding in a residential neighborhood of 

Bothell called Crystal Ridge, which was approved by Snohomish County 

in 198i and incorporated into the City of Bothell in 1992.2 The County's 

approval documents indicate the property's extensive history of flooding 

problems.3 The primary problem with the site was a substantial 

subsurface (groundwater) flow coming from adjacent upland property.4 

The developer's geotechnical engineer addressed the groundwater flows in 

several geotech reports issued during the approval process, emphasizing 

the need for two specialized drainage improvements to de-water (dry-out) 

the site and make it suitable for "residential construction."s First, a deeply 

buried perforated pipe (the "interceptor pipe") was to be located directly 

1 Division I of the Plat of Crystal Ridge was recorded on April 15, 1987 (CP 660) and 
Division II on November 10, 1987. CP 654. 
2 CP 345. 
3 CP 692-729; 463-473. 
4 CP 713. 
5 CP 697. 
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adjacent to the upland property for the purpose of intercepting 

groundwater and conveying it away from the new residential development 

of Crystal Ridge;6 and second, a drainage swale was to be located on the 

ground upslope of the interceptor pipe, to intercept surface water flows 

from the adjacent upland property and convey them away from the site.7 

The developer's geotech specifically recommended that the surface 

water swale drain be installed upslope of the interceptor trench: "The 

swale drain should be located immediately upslope of the interceptor 

drain and should be designed to intercept surface runoff from the upslope 

properties."g Unfortunately, the surface water swale drain no longer 

exists, as the Plaintiff property owners have used the easement area where 

it was originally located for their own purposes, such as to install fences, 

landscaping, and the like.9 

6 CP 697; 713-715. The geotech engineer also indicated that the interceptor trench, in 
which the perforated pipe was to be laid, "should be approximately 2 feet wide and 
should extend as deep as possible but not less than 12 feet." CP 715. 
7 CP 699; 7l3-715. 
8 CP 699 (emphasis added). 
9 Plaintiffs disagree that the now vanished swale had to have been located "upslope" of 
the buried interceptor drain, contending that the second geotech report stated that the 
"swale drain may be located independently of the location of the interceptor trench." 
(Emphasis added.) CP 715. They argue that "independently" must mean in a different 
easement (an unsubstantiated leap in logic.) Then, they argue that the only other 
easement in the area is located downslope of the interceptor drain; ergo, according to 
Plaintiffs, the swale must have been in the separate easement downslope of the 
interceptor drain. This makes no sense. Also, the geotech statement Plaintiffs' rely upon 
is not a complete quote of the report, which actually reads as follows: "The swale drain 
may be located independently of the location of the interceptor trench and should be 
designed to intercept surface runoff from the upslope properties ... " (Emphasis added.) 
CP 715. This indicates that the swale should still be located upslope of the interceptor 
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The County's conditions of approval required installation of both 

the interceptor pipe and the surface water swale, as recommended by the 

developer's geotech. IO 

2. The Drainage Easements Conveyed to Snohomish 
County on the Plat Are Limited to Easements for 
"Stormwater Facilities" Only. 

The Crystal Ridge plats were recorded in the Snohomish County's 

Assessor's Office with limited easements conveyed to the County. 

Specifically, the easements were for "stormwater facilities" only as 

evidenced by the plain language on the face of each plat: 

DRAINAGE EASEMENTS DESIGNATED ON 
THIS PLAT ARE HEREBY RESERVED FOR 
AND GRANTED TO SNOHOMISH COUNTY 
FOR THE RIGHT OF INGRESS AND EGRESS 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF MAINTAINING AND 
OPERATING STORMWATER FACILITIES. II 

The City submitted overwhelming evidence to the trial court 

proving that the interceptor pipe was not a "stormwater facility," and, thus, 

was simply not included within the scope of this easement. 12 The City's 

evidence on this issue was uncontested. 

drain; how else would it be able to intercept surface runoff from the upslope properties? 
See, also, CP 255-256. 
10 CP 719-729. 
II CP 655; 661 (emphasis added). 
12 CP 324-326 (introduction); CP 326-328 (the interceptor pipe does not meet the 
definition of a stormwater facility in Former Snohomish County Code 24, in effect at the 
time of plat approval); CP 329-331 (same, 1979 Snohomish County Drainage Procedures 
Manual, in effect at the time of plat approval); CP 331-333 (same, Former Title 25 of the 
Snohomish County Code, in effect at the time of plat approval); CP 334-337 (same, 
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a) 2S-foot Sanitary Sewer and Drainage Easement 

Of particular importance to this lawsuit is the existence on the plats 

of two easement areas. Looking at the plat documents for Division II, for 

instance, in the upper right hand section of the second page there is a 

legend that states: "25' SANITARY SEWER (AWD) AND DRAINAGE 

EASEMENT.,,13 This 25-foot easement area was dedicated to both the 

sewer district for a sanitary sewer easement, and the County for an 

easement for "stormwater facilities.,,14 It is undisputed, however, that fee 

title to the property remained with the Crystal Ridge Homeowner's 

Association (HOA). 

b) 1S-foot Easement Lying Downslope of the 
Interceptor Pipe 

The plats also dedicated another easement area to Snohomish 

County marked "15 foot drainage easement.,,15 With regard to this 

easement, it is of particular importance to note that it is located downslope 

of the 25-foot easement area. 

1972/1973 Comprehensive Trunk Stonn Drain Plan); CP 337-338 (same, 1977 City of 
Bothell Surface Water Runoff Policy, in effect at the time the property was incorporated 
by the City); CP 338-339 (same, City of Bothell Current Codes). 
13 CP 655. 
14 CP 655. 
15 CP 655 . 
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3. The Alderwood Water District Also Has an Easement 
For its Sanitary Sewer Main in the Same Trench as the 
Interceptor Pipe 

It is also important to note that as part of the development, another 

separate municipal corporation, the Alderwood Water District ("A WD,,)16 

installed its sanitary sewer main in the exact same trench as the interceptor 

pipe. 17 In fact, installation of the interceptor pipe was required to protect 

AWD's sanitary sewer main. 18 

4. The Easement for "Stormwater Facilities" Does Not 
Include the Interceptor Pipe 

For purposes of this appeal, the Court should assume that the 

interceptor pipe was buried in the 25-foot easement area. 19 Although it is 

uncontested that the easement for "storm water facilities" was contained on 

the face of the Crystal Ridge plats (Divisions I & II), the scope of this 

easement with regard to the City is contested.2o The plain language of the 

easement itself clearly limits the easement to "stormwater facilities." It is 

the City's position - supported by the record - that when the interceptor 

pipe was approved by Snohomish County and then installed by the 

16 Now named the Alderwood Water and Sanitary Sewer District. 
17 CP 475. 
18 CP 467. 
19 Despite some efforts by both parties to dig-up and physically locate the interceptor 
pipe, to the best of the City's knowledge, it has not been found on Plaintiffs' properties. 
CP 799. 
20 The A WD obviously has a right to this easement area to maintain its sanitary sewer. 
As the City noted, because the interceptor pipe was required as a condition of the sanitary 
sewer's installation, it is logical to presume A WD also has a responsibility to maintain 
the interceptor pipe. Plaintiffs' failure to name A WD in this lawsuit is a mystery. 
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developer, that it did not then, and does not now, meet any of the relevant 

definitions for a "stormwater facility." For instance, it is undisputed that a 

de-watering system for excessive ground water was not part of the 

County's drainage system, or surface and storm water management 

system, at the time the plat of Crystal Ridge was approved in the 1980s. 

See former Snohomish County Code (SCC) Title 24; former SCC Title 25; 

and the County's formerly adopted Drainage Procedures Manua1.21 

Furthermore, a de-watering system for groundwater that protects only 

private property has never been a component of the City'S drainage 

system, or surface and storm water management system, either at the time 

of annexation or at any time since. See the former Bothell Municipal 

Codes (BMCs) for drainage and stormwater management, and the 

currently enacted Code, BMC Title 18.22 

Instead, the interceptor pipe is either a private facility installed on 

private property (a parcel held in fee title by the HOA), used to benefit the 

private residential development of Crystal Ridge and intended to be 

maintained by the HOA; or it is, perhaps, a mixed use facility between the 

HOA and the Alderwood Sewer District.23 

21 CP 324-333; 349-454; 665-691. 
22 CP 333-339; 343-344; 485-616. 
23 CP 250-251. 
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5. Neither the County Nor the City Ever Inspected or 
Maintained the Interceptor Pipe 

Finally, the City reviewed all available County records with regard 

to this plat and the interceptor pipe, and it is undisputed that there is not a 

scintilla of evidence in the record to support a finding that the County ever 

accepted maintenance of this facility, or that it ever actually maintained 

this facility.24 Had Plaintiffs been able to find such evidence, it surely 

would have made its way into the record on appeal; instead, Plaintiffs did 

not submit any evidence below to indicate that the interceptor pipe had 

ever been maintained by anyone (not Snohomish County, or the City, or 

the HOA) at any time. It is also undisputed that since incorporation in 

1992, the City has never considered the buried interceptor pipe a public 

facility, and the City has never maintained it.25 Furthermore, the City's 

witnesses provided undisputed testimony that the type of interceptor pipe 

installed at Crystal Ridge is not the type of drainage facility the City 

would normally ever agree to take over from a private developer.26 

6. The Recorded Drainage Disclosure Requires the Private 
Property Owners in Crystal Ridge to Maintain the 
Interceptor Pipe Themselves 

In addition to requiring installation of the specialized drainage 

features discussed above (i.e., the buried interceptor drain and the surface 

24 CP 245; 248-249; 344. 
25 CP 245-46. 
26 CP 250-253; 343-346; 482; 784-789. 
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swale), prior to plat approval on Division II, the County also required the 

developer to record on the property a document entitled "Drainage 

Disclosure" with the County Assessor's office,27 a disclosure that runs 

with the land in perpetuity and reads, in part, as follows: 

The filing of the document: 

1) [Discloses] to all the following: Substantial 
surface and subsurface drainage controls 
have been necessary in the development of 
the subject property, and that special 
and/or extraordinary drainage controls 
may be necessary on individual lots. 

*** 
3) Serves as notice to any heir, successor, 

assign or prospective purchaser [that] the 
disclosures and terms and conditions runs 
[sic] with the land pursuant to Section 19.40 
SCC and the compliance and/or 
knowledge are the obligation of any 
owner of the subject property. 

This condition has been issued without expiration date.28 

This recorded document undeniably gave notice to all purchasers 

in Division II that the property they were buying had severe flooding 

problems and that in the future "special and/or extraordinary drainage 

controls may be necessary on individual lots." More importantly, the 

recorded Drainage Disclosure mandates that future "compliance" with 

27 CP 727. 
28 CP 472-473 (emphasis added). 

13 



"drainage controls" on "individual lots" is "the obligation of any owner of 

the subject property." 

Based on this recorded Drainage Disclosure, it is clear that the 

Plaintiffs in this lawsuit, i.e., the owners of "individual lots" in Crystal 

Ridge, are "obligated" to comply with the drainage controls on their own 

properties. Additionally, it is undisputed that the HOA (Plaintiffs in this 

lawsuit) own the lot where the interceptor pipe is buried. The interceptor 

pipe is buried on Tract 999, which is an open space lot that is owned by 

the HOA. 

c. Procedural Status 

Plaintiffs filed a motion for partial summary judgment asking the 

trial court to find that the City had a duty to maintain the interceptor 

pipe.29 The City filed a cross-motion for summary judgment asking the 

trial court to hold that no such duty exists and, in addition, to dismiss 

Plaintiffs' lawsuit in its entirety.3D Plaintiffs' motion was granted and the 

C· , . d . d 31 lty s cross-motIon was eme. The trial court entered an order 

granting an immediate appeal;32 and this Court accepted review. 

29 CP 632-649. 
30 CP 314-34l. 
31 CP 97-100. 
32 CP 66-69. 

14 



IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Interceptor Pipe Was Not Expressly Dedicated to 
Snohomish County 

In this case, the interceptor pipe was not expressly dedicated to 

Snohomish County because, inter alia, it was not - and is not - a "storm 

water facility." A dedication is an owner's voluntary donation of land or 

its use to the public. City of Spokane v. Catholic Bishop, 33 Wn.2d 496, 

503, 206 P.2d 277 (1949). An easement is a nonpossesory right to use in 

some way another's land without compensation. City of Olympia v.

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