No. 68618-6-I

STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

Crystal Ridge Homeowners Association, et al.,

Respondents,

VS.

City of Bothell,

Appellant.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Karen A. Willie, WSBA No. 15902 Michael D. Daudt, WSBA No. 25690 Bradley E. Neunzig, WSBA No. 22365 Terrell Marshall Daudt & Willie PLLC 936 North 34th Street, Suite 400 Seattle, Washington 98103 Telephone: (206) 816-6603 Facsimile: (206) 350-3528 kwillie@tmdwlaw.com mdaudt@tmdwlaw.com

bneunzig@tmdwlaw.com

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Developer Of Crystal Ridge Made A Statutory Dedication Which is Controlled By State Statute And Is Valid.

The proper analysis in this case is to enquire, as the trial court did, into what occurred between the Developer and Snohomish County and whether there was a proper dedication of the drainage easements in the plats. CP 169-170. The State statute, RCW 58.17.020, is the controlling law here. "An ordinance must yield to a statute on the same subject on either of two grounds: if the statute preempts the field, leaving no room for concurrent jurisdiction, or if a conflict exists between the two that cannot be harmonized." *King County v. Taxpayers of King County*, 133 Wn.2d 584, 612, 949 P.2d 1260 (1997). RCW 58.17.020 states in pertinent part:

As used in this chapter, unless the context or subject matter clearly requires otherwise, the words or phrases defined in this section shall have the indicated meanings.

(3) "Dedication" is the deliberate appropriation of land by an owner for any general and public uses, reserving to himself or herself no other rights than such as are compatible with the full exercise and enjoyment of the public uses to which the property has been devoted. The intention to dedicate shall be evidenced by the owner by the presentment for filing of a final plat or short plat showing the dedication thereon; and, the acceptance by the public shall be evidenced by the approval of such plat for filing by the appropriate governmental unit.

The effect of such a donation is set forth in RCW Section 58.08.015 and it results in the property being transferred as if by quitclaim deed:

Every donation or grant to the public, or to any individual or individuals, religious society or societies, or to any corporation or body politic, marked or noted as such on the plat of the town, or wherein such donation or grant may have been made, shall be considered, to all intents and purposes, as a quitclaim deed to the said donee or donees, grantee or grantees, for his, her or their use, for the purposes intended by the donor or donors, grantor or grantors, as aforesaid.

(Emphasis added).

The transfer of the drainage easements was completed twenty-five years ago, is effective under the operative State statute, and is binding on the City.

The City's arguments, however, rest on a fundamental misunderstanding of the legal basis for the County's acceptance of the "drainage easement." The City begins its legal argument by asserting, without analysis, that the drainage easement, which is set forth in the recorded plat of Division 2, should be analyzed as a "common law dedication." The City's argument completely ignores the fact that the easement was included in a recorded plat (CP 45-53), and therefore a

²⁶ See Appellant's Brief, p. 15. It is also worth noting that the City never raised any arguments with respect to common law dedication at the trial court level.

statutory dedication has occurred pursuant to the State statute set out above and property was as if quitclaimed to Snohomish County.

There are critical differences between a statutory dedication and a common law dedication. See Kiely v. Graves, 173 Wn.2d 926, 931-32, 271 P.3d 926 (2012) ("Common law dedications are controlled by common law principles while statutory dedications are governed by specific statutes."); 11A McQuillin Mun. Corp. § 33:4 (3d ed.) ("Statutory dedications are those made pursuant to the provisions of a statute. . . . Statutory dedication is commonly accomplished through the filing of a map or plat designating the areas to be dedicated and are controlled wholly by the terms of the authorizing statute."). The intent of the parties, both the grantor and the grantee, are controlled by the plat. Kiely v. Graves, 173 Wn.2d 926, 933 ("Intent must be adduced from the plat itself.") Statutory dedications do not require any extrinsic evidence showing acceptance—acceptance of a statutory dedication is evidenced by the municipality's signatures approving the plat for filing. RCW 58.17.020 (Defining "Dedication" and showing that "acceptance by the public shall be evidenced by the approval of such plat for filing by the appropriate governmental unit.") (emphasis added)). Here, the County approved the plats and dedication at issue by the signatures on the face of each plat. CP

45, 50. The City's arguments, which are based upon principles of common law dedication, have no application to the issues at hand.

For the same reason, the City's citation to Knudsen v. Patton, 26 Wn. App. 134, 141, 611 P.2d 1354 (1980) is unavailing.²⁷ In *Knudsen*, the party seeking to establish a dedication of land for a public park failed to assert any theory other than common law dedication at trial. Knudsen v. Patton, 26 Wn. App. 134, 142 n. 11 ("Plaintiff's sole theory, at trial and on appeal, is based on a common law dedication.") There is no restriction in RCW Chapter 58.17 against dedications in plats that are limited in scope to benefit only certain members of the public. The only requirement is for the municipality to determine that "the public use and interest will be served" by the dedication. RCW 58.17.110(2). A municipality's determination under RCW 58.17.110 is administrative or quasi-judicial in nature, and, therefore, "[a]ppellate review is limited to determining whether the decision satisfies constitutional requirements and is not arbitrary and capricious." Lechelt v. City of Seattle, 32 Wn. App. 831, 835, 650 P.2d 240 (1982).

The City has not challenged, and twenty-five years later, has no way to challenge, the County's decision as "arbitrary and capricious."

The County's determination that the plats and their dedications served the

²⁷ See Appellant's Brief, p. 16.

public use and interest is irrefutably established. Accordingly, the County's original decision to approve the dedication of the drainage easement is dispositive of this issue. From a legal point of view, whether the drainage easement benefits the public at large or only a small subset living at Crystal Ridge makes no difference. The dedication of the drainage easements on the face of the recorded plats is a valid, binding, statutory dedication. RCW 58.17.010.

1. Even Considering the City's Infirm Theory, It Fails to Refer to The Proper Dedication Language Which Is Broad and Includes All Drainage Easements on The Plats

The City is looking at the wrong language on the plats in order to make a strained argument based on descriptive words at the end of a legend. It turns to the words of the legends in Division 2, (CP 46, 47) which both state:

DRAINAGE EASEMENTS DESIGNATED ON THIS PLAT ARE HEREBY RESERVED FOR AND GRANTED TO SNOHOMISH COUNTY FOR THE RIGHT OF INGRESS AND EGRESS FOR THE PURPOSE OF MAINTAINING AND OPERATING STORMWATER FACILITIES.

The City uses the words "stormwater facilities" and argues that the County did not accept the "drainage easement" for Tract 999 because a stormwater facility was not in Tract 999. These are the wrong words to focus upon. The Developer's dedication language is not on the pages with

the legends, but it can be found on the first page of the plat for Division 2. The dedication is very broad and states that the dedication is "to the use of the public forever all streets, avenues, *places* and sewer easements or whatever public property there is shown on the plat and the use for any and all public purposes...." CP 45 (emphasis added). The words "drainage easement" are irrefutably on the northern and southern sections of Tract 999 and the land is either a "place" or "whatever public property" that is shown on the plat. The uses of ingress and egress and to have the duty to maintain and operate "stormwater facilities" all fall under the rubric of "any and all public purposes" that the Developer transferred the "drainage easement" to the County for. The intent of the plat applicant determines whether there has been an easement granted. M.K.K.I., Inc. v. Krueger, 135 Wn. App. 647, 654, 145 P.3d 411 (2006) rev. denied, 161 Wn. 2d 1012 (2007) citing Selby v. Knudson, 77 Wn. App. 189,194, 890 P.2d 514 (1995).

In *M.K.K.I.*, the applicants had used the County's short plat ordinance to divide property into several lots. An easement was identified on the plat for the use of all the properties for "access, utility ease, [and] well access ease." *M.K.K.I.* at 651. The applicants later attempted to extinguish the easement through quitclaim deeds. The quitclaims were found to be invalid because the dedication on the plat was itself considered

a "quitclaim deed" under the short plat statute, RCW 58.17.166. The short plat statute was set out in the opinion and it has language identical to the State statute referenced above and used in the dedication of the easements of Crystal Ridge. *M.K.K.I.* at 653. The applicants could not extinguish the easement unless they had gone through a plat amendment to do so. *M.K.K.I.* at 657. Here, the City admits that there has been no action, legislative or otherwise, that extinguishes the easement on Tract 999. CP 795.

It also makes no sense that the successor in interest to the County could "pick and choose" what drainage easements it will accept twenty five years after the plats were accepted by County officials and filed of record by the County Auditor. It should be noted that on the northern part of Division 2, there is a fifteen foot "drainage easement" below Tract 999, ²⁸ another called out for the lateral drains between lots 7 and 8 and another that wraps around the front of lots 9, 10, 11 and 12. CP 46. On the southern part of Division 2, there are "drainage easements" between lots 18 and 19, 21 and 22, 29 and 30, 30 and 31 and another that wraps around the front lots of 17, 18, 19, 20, 21 and 22. It is telling that the "drainage easement" on Tract 999, with the interceptor trench in it, is the

²⁸ This is the easement that Engineer Trepanier notes has the swale in it. CP 291-292.

only "drainage easement" that the City has placed under attack in response to Crystal Ridge's summary judgment motion.

2. The Definition of "Drain" and the Presence of "Stormwater" in the Interceptor Trench Defeats the City's Tortured Attempt to Create an Ambiguity Here

The City's self-serving analysis narrowly focuses on the words "stormwater facility" in the legend rather than on the words that are on the plat itself. The perforated pipe in the interceptor trench is a "drainage" feature. Engineer Trepanier notes that it is the only drainage feature in that twenty-five foot wide "drainage easement." CP 291. Black's Law Dictionary defines a "drain" as a "conduit for draining liquid, as a ditch or a pipe." DRAIN, Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009). McQuillin's Law of Municipal Corporations states that the word "drain" means "an artificial channel or trench through which water or sewage passes from one point to another." 11 McQuillin Mun. Corp. § 31:2 (3d ed.). The pipe is surely acting as a "drain" and pipes and trenches are solidly within the above definitions of the word "drain." The City's characterization of the easement as limited to a "stormwater facilities" easement ignores both the plain language of the plat dedication and the ordinary meaning of the word "drainage."

However, even considering the City's use of the word "stormwater," its definition ignores the type of flows that are in the perforated pipe in the interceptor trench. Stormwater is obviously water emanating from storms and would be in the form of rain. Dr. Denby testified that "rainfall infiltrates vertically into the ridge surface soils and then flows laterally...." CP 294. The ground waters in the western edge of the plat are there because of storms and rainfall. The interceptor trench was originally to capture municipal waters in the area, both from waterlines and from "storm drains." CP 295-296. The flows in the interceptor trench are "stormwater."

3. The Entire System of the Interceptor Trench, Lateral Pipes and Retention/Detention Ponds are Component Parts of the "Stormwater Facilities" which are on Division 2 of Crystal Ridge

Both divisions have "drainage easements" on them and both have systems or "facilities" to deal with stormwater. CP 45-53. Division 2 has a system that carries stormwaters to two retention detention systems to store the flows as surface waters and release them slowly into area streams. CP 811. Engineer Trepanier designed the system at issue here and prepared the plat that was eventually accepted and recorded by the County for Division 2. CP 809. He explained that "some of the groundwater is collected, passes through large lateral drains and arrives at the rectangular retention/detention pond where it becomes surface water that eventually drains to a natural stream." CP 811. There is also an off-

site circular pond on neighboring property where some of these flows are directed. *Id.* Engineer Trepanier did the hydrologic calculations to "size" the onsite rectangular pond. *Id.* In doing so, he calculated it in order to "accommodate the groundwater flows that would be intercepted by the sub-drain/interceptor drain [interceptor trench]." *Id.* The County demanded that all subsurface piping be included in the as-built plans for the plats. *Id.* When the City brought up its theory that "stormwater facilities" somehow limited the "drainage easements" called out in Division 2, Trepanier, again the engineer who designed the system, testified that:

[T]he City's argument that the sub-drain [interceptor trench] itself has to be a "stormwater facility" for the County's easement obligations to be triggered is wrong.

...

The entire system is a "stormwater facility" and the pipes in the sub-drain [interceptor trench] are component parts of the system.

CP 292.

. / 1

The City's theory, based on the words "stormwater facility" when more closely examined, makes little sense.

Finally, if the Court considers the language of the easement as ambiguous in any manner, it considers the "surrounding circumstances" for its analysis which would include the Hearing Examiner's Decision.

Rainier View Court Homeowner's Ass'n. v. Zucker, 157 Wn. App. 710,

238 P.3d 1217 (2010). We found no cases where a court was provided the testimony of the contemporaneous geotechnical engineer and the civil engineer who helped establish the plats, but we assert that their testimony surely provides insight into the "surrounding circumstances."

In Rainier View Court, a homeowner's association for phase I of a three phased plat argued that the residents in phases II and III could not use a park designated on the face of the plat for phase I. Rainier View Court at 716. In the final plat, the park was designated only on phase I and no references were made to it on phase II and phase III. Id. The owners of phase I also each had a 1/86th undivided interest in the park tract and had to pay taxes on it accordingly. Id. The phase I owners argued that the plat was not ambiguous and that it was improper for the trial court to look at surrounding circumstances. The appellate court disagreed and took the next step in its analysis. It examined the Hearing Examiner's decision, the location of the park and the fact that the private roads in the development lead to the park and everyone had a right to use the roads. The court therefore found that the park was dedicated to all phases of the development despite no specific reference to it in phases II and III. Rainier View Court at 723. Here, we do not believe, if one looks to the correct language in the plat, that it is ambiguous. However, under a

"surrounding circumstances" analysis, the interceptor trench was conveyed to the County twenty-five years ago.

4. The City's Other Theories Lack Any Foundation

The other theories that the City has advanced are not supportive to its position. The fact that AWD's sewer pipe is in the same easement on Tract 999 establishes that the interceptor trench is being used for a public purpose. The words on the easement make it clear it is dedicated for two purposes, it states, "25' SANITARY SEWER (A.W.D.) AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT." CP 46, 47. It is clear that all "drainage easements" were dedicated to the County for its maintenance and repair. Contrary to the City's assertions, there is no evidence that suggests that AWD has the maintenance responsibility for the drainage component that is in the trench.²⁹ Bothell's present day practices or its Code concerning the connection of private downspouts to the City's public drainage system have no relevance to this case at all.³⁰ The hypothetical the City offers involving four inch private downspouts and a public twelve foot lateral line in a fifteen foot City easement is flawed. The easement on Tract 999 was dedicated to two municipal entities and no private structures are within it. The more proper hypothetical would be to consider two municipal dedications in the same easement. If a road is dedicated to a

²⁹ See Appellant's Brief, p. 10, n. 20, p.16, n. 33; p. 23.
 ³⁰ See Appellant's Brief, pp. 29-30 citing BMC 18.04.050.

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